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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512
	MIGUEL N. MARIN, 

                                  Employee, 

                                             Applicant,

                                                 v. 

KLAWOCK CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

                                 Employer,

                                                    and 

ALASKA PUBLIC ENTITY INSURANCE,

                                 Insurer,

                                                Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200806131
AWCB Decision No. 12-0087

Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

On May 14, 2012


Miguel Marin’s (Employee) November 10, 2009, workers’ compensation claim (WCC) was heard before a two-member panel on May 8, 2012, in Juneau, Alaska.  Employee appeared telephonically and testified.  Non-attorney representative Rene Rew appeared telephonically, represented Employee, and testified.  Attorney Colby Smith appeared and represented Klawock City School District (Employer).  The record closed at the hearing’s conclusion on May 8, 2012.

ISSUES

Employee contends he is entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms, which he contends results from a work-related aggravation of a pre-existing disc herniation.  Employee contends since his work injury, his pain has never resolved and he is permanently and totally disabled because of the work-related aggravation.  He seeks permanent total disability (PTD), permanent partial impairment benefits (PPI), and past and ongoing medical treatment.

Employer contends Employee had a well-established pre-existing herniated nucleus pulposus with severe focal stenosis and cord compression prior to his employment with Employer.  Employer contends Employee’s pre-existing conditions were aggravated by a June 7, 2008, non-work related event of stepping on a scale at home, which created myelopathic symptoms and necessitated Employee’s need for surgical decompression.  Because Employee’s past and current symptoms are not work-related and no further medical treatment is needed attributable to the work injury, it contends Employee is not entitled to medical treatment, PTD, and PPI benefits.

1) Is Employee entitled to past and continuing medical treatment for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms?
2) Is Employee entitled to PTD benefits?
3) Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits?


FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On November 7, 2005, Employee was treated at Craig Clinic for chronic right hip pain after lifting something heavy.  The pain started in his sciatic notch, right buttock and radiated down his leg to his calf.  The assessment was acute/chronic low back sprain and contracture of low back muscles.  (Chart Note, Craig Clinic, November 7, 2005).
2) On November 2, 2006, Employee reported a work injury occurred on November 2, 2006, when he coughed and his back and hip “went out” while he was working for a different employer, Carter & Carter Enterprises, Inc.  Employee filed a claim relating to this injury, which was denied in Marin v. Carter & Carter Enterprises, Inc., Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd. Dec. No. 11-0016 (February 17, 2011) (Marin I) based on Employee’s failure to timely prosecute his claims.

3) On November 2, 2006, Jacquelyn Barnes, PA-C, treated Employee at Alicia Roberts Medical Center (ARMC) and diagnosed: 1) low back pain with radiculopathy, and 2) hand pain.  Ms. Barnes referred Employee to Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital’s radiology department for a lumbar spine series examination.  (Chart Note, Barnes, November 2, 2006; Lumbar Spine Series Examination Report, Dr. Michael Walker, M.D., November 7, 2006).
4) On November 2, 2006, the lumbar spine series showed normal alignment with preservation of the disk spaces.  No acute subluxations or fractures were present, the sacroiliac joints were normal, and no suspicious abdominal or pelvic calcifications were seen.  (Radiologist Report, Michael Walker, M.D., November 2, 2006).
5) On March 21, 2007, Matt Dinon, D.O, treated Employee for back pain and diagnosed lumbar radiculopathy.  Dr. Dinon referred Employee for lumbar spine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).  (Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, March 21, 2007).
6) On April 12, 2007, the lumbar spine MRI showed prominent disk extrusions with severe spinal canal stenosis at T12-L1 and L4-5 and degenerative disk disease with minimal disk protrusion at L5-S1.  (Radiologist Report, David Vanderburgh, M.D., April 12, 2007).
7) On April 20, 2007, Dr. Dinon treated Employee in follow up to the lumbar spine MRI and opined, “This is not going to fly as a work injury.  I think [the patient] understands it is not all acute.”  He stated Employee would pursue a neurosurgical consultation.  (Chart Note, Dr. Dinon, April 20, 2007).
8) On May 3, 2007, Robert Thomas, M.D., treated Employee for back pain, diagnosed 2-level herniated nucleus pulposus, and opined, “I am not certain if the ruptured disc is causing the right hip pain or not.  It most likely is causing the pain along the lateral posterior thigh, however he could have a sacroiliitis that is also causing the hip pain.”  Dr. Thomas also opined, “This did occur while he was at work and there was a prolonged period of time before he could be medically evacuated for care.”  Dr. Thomas referred Employee to John Bursell, M.D., and Gordon Bozarth, M.D., for further evaluation of Employee’s pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Thomas, May 3, 2007).
9) On October 13, 2007, Julie Crites, FNP, treated Employee for lumbar pain and diagnosed lumbosacral strain.  (Chart Note, Crites, October 13, 2007).
10)  On October 13, 2007, a lumber spine x-ray showed chronic-appearing changes.  (Radiologist Report, Jerry Wright, M.D., October 13, 2007).
11) On November 6, 2007, Mel Bingham, PA-C, treated Employee for back and hip pain and stated, “Has had back pain for several months following an apparent work related exacerbation of previous cumulative injury.”  She stated Employee wanted a referral but also needed funding for his care.  (Chart Note, Bingham, November 6, 2007).
12) On May 1, 2008 at approximately 9:30 a.m., Ms. Bingham treated Employee for a re-strain of Employee’s lower back, including “bilateral shooting pain, legs, painful lump in arm pit” and diagnosed severe lumbar spinal stenosis, lumbar degenerative disc disease, and lumbar strain.  Ms. Bingham noted Employee had been working at school for the last three weeks, with no work before that since the last fall.  Employee reported he, “has improved some since working as a logger, then sometimes had trouble moving feet at times” and “long term pain down both legs, some progressing numbness.  Gets shooting pain down both legs when coughing or sneezing.”  Ms. Bingham told Employee he could do mild activity only such as light cleaning at work and informed Employee he could do no lifting at work.  Ms. Bingham restricted Employee from working for three days, after which Employee was released to return to work if tolerated, with no vigorous activity or lifting greater than five pounds.  (Chart Note, Bingham, May 1, 2008; Return to Work Release, Bingham, May 2, 2008).
13) Employee went to work later that day and on May 1, 2008, Employee reported a work injury occurred on May 1, 2008, at approximately 2:30 p.m., when he pulled a muscle in his back while lifting lunchroom tables.  His workday was reported to have begun at 1:30 p.m.  (Report of Injury, May 6, 2008).

14) On May 2, 2008, Ms. Bingham treated Employee for back pain.  Ms. Bingham stated Employee, “went back to work yesterday [and] had to lift a table.  Was told θ lifting.”  Employee reported he had to lift tables in order to do his job.  Ms. Bingham recommended, “Absolutely θ lifting, off work if necessary.”  Employee was again referred to a neurological specialist.  (Chart Note, May 2, 2008).
15) On May 5, 2008, Ms. Bingham restricted Employee from working for ten days.  (Return to Work Release, Bingham, May 5, 2008).
16) On May 14, 2008, Ms. Bingham evaluated Employee for a release to return to work.  She stated Employee, “wants to go back to work. . . .  Back feels better but is not 100% yet.  Still hurts when coughing, bending down.”  She opined Employee could return to work, but noted it would likely cause increased discomfort.  (Chart Note, Bingham, May 14, 2008). 
17) On May 14, 2008, Ms. Bingham released Employee to work with restrictions of no lifting greater than 10 pounds, and Employee returned to work full time for Employer.  (Return to Work Release, Bingham, May 14, 2008; Marin Hearing Testimony).
18) On May 14, 2008, Employee had an appointment with a neurological specialist at ARMC but the provider did not make it into the clinic due to weather.  (Chart Note, ARMC, May 14, 2008).
19) On June 7, 2008, an ARMC provider treated Employee for back pain and diagnosed lumbar strain.  Employee reported he was using poor body mechanics while carrying garbage, stepped up onto a four-inch tall scale to weigh himself and felt pain shooting down his legs, and numbness and tingling in his feet.  Employee reported his degree of pain was 10 out of 10.  (Chart Note, ARMC, June 7, 2008).
20) On June 7, 2008, Employee returned to ARMC and Ms. Bingham treated Employee for back pain.  Employee reported a feeling of numbness in legs, bilaterally and pain in his low back.  He reported his legs felt “weird” and different and pain was intolerable, a 10 out of 10.  (Chart Note, Bingham, June 7, 2008).
21) On June 8, 2008, a lumbar spine MRI showed: 1) T12-L1 level severe and considerably worsened disk extrusion with prominent compression and mass effect on the distal spinal cord at and just above the conus medullaris, now also with a pattern of cord edema or possibly early myelomalacia, 2) L4-5 level central, broad disk protrusion, which appears considerably improved from the 2007 examination, and 3) degenerative disk disease and mild stenotic findings at other included levels which do not appear appreciably changed from the prior examination.  (Radiologist Report, Kevin Voss, M.D., June 8, 2008).
22) On June 8, 2008, Employee was medevaced from ARMC to Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital and from Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle, Washington.  (Transfer Information, June 8, 2008; Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital Travel Form, June 8, 2008; Nursing Assessment, Mt. Edgecumbe Hospital, June 8, 2008).
23) On June 9, 2008, a cervical, thoracic, and lumbosacral spine MRI showed large left T12-L1 acute disk extrusion with severe spinal stenosis compressing the conus with edema in the distal cord and tip of the conus.  (Radiologist Report, Rose Holt, M.D., June 9, 2008).
24) On June 9, 2008, a Harborview Medical Center Emergency Department chart notes reported Employee, “had back injury while lifting tables at work.  Acute onset of lower back pain while stepping on scale” two days previously.  Employee had a history of spinal stenosis and “throwing back out” and had sudden onset of lower back pain and lower extremity weakness and numbness two days previously after stepping on and off a scale.  There was no trauma or lifting.  (Chart Notes, Harborview Medical Center Emergency Department, June 9, 2008).
25) On June 9, 2008, Marcelo Vilela, M.D. at Harborview Medical Center diagnosed T12-L1 herniated disc with severe myelopathy.  He stated, “This is a 48-year-old gentleman with a long history of lumbar stenosis who presented with a two-day history of acute worsening of his low back pain with bilateral lower extremity weakness and numbness, apparently associated with an episode of heavy lifting two days ago.”  Employee’s weakness progressed over the two days until he was unable to ambulate and was brought to Harborview Medical Center for evaluation and found to have a T12-L1 herniated disc, eccentric to the left with spinal cord impingement.  Dr. Vilela opined management of the disc required urgent discectomy.  Dr. Vilela performed an excision of T12-L1 herniated disc using a transpedicular approach and stated, “It was a very difficult dissection and the disc was partially calcified and adherent to the anterior dura.”  (Operative Report, Dr. Vilela, June 9, 2008).
26) On July 8, 2008, neurologist M. Sean Green, M.D., examined Employee for an Employer’s Independent Medical Evaluation (EIME).  Dr. Green diagnosed: (1) acute herniated nucleus pulposus T12-L1, with compression myelopathy, treated with surgical decompression, (2) chronic herniated nucleus pulposus with focal central stenosis and cord compression, likely symptomatic at least intermittently from November 1, 2006, (3) lumbar spondylosis with focal stenosis at T12-L1 and L4-L5, pre-existing, (4) congenital short pedicle syndrome (lumbar canal stenosis), pre-existing, (5) recurrent cellulitis, unrelated, and (6) probable hepatitis B, status unknown, unrelated.  Regarding Employee’s pain and need for surgery, he stated Employee, “had well-established pre-existing herniated nucleus pulposes with severe focal stenosis and incipient cord compression at T12-L1 prior to his employment” with Employer.  Dr. Green opined Employee suffered a symptomatic exacerbation of pre-existing lumbar symptoms in association with lifting a cafeteria table on May 1, 2008.  Dr. Green stated Employee had many similar episodes of waxing and waning symptoms but did not develop symptoms of overt myelopathy until June 7, 2008, when he stepped up onto a scale to weigh himself.  He opined Employee’s acute herniation of disc material at T12-L1 causing compression of the adjacent cord, arising from Employee’s degenerative disc disease, was the substantial cause of Employee’s disability, complaints, symptoms and need for medical treatment, with a possible minor contribution from carrying garbage or stepping up onto a scale to weigh himself.  He opined the underlying etiology of Employee’s worsening condition was in major part due to Employee’s degenerative disc disease.  He further opined the substantial cause of Employee’s need for surgical decompression was Employee’s degenerative disc disease and pre-existing lumbar stenosis.  Dr. Green stated after the May 1, 2008 injury, Employee improved so he could return to work and only subsequently on June 7, 2008, did Employee develop recurrent symptoms as well as new symptoms indicating cord compression.  Dr. Green opined Employee was not medically stable and permanently aggravated his pre-existing back condition; however, Dr. Green stated such aggravation was not related to Employee’s May 1, 2008 work injury.  He stated, “the cardinal symptoms that required urgent decompression did not occur on 05/01/08 but occurred on 06/07/08, in association with an episode of stepping up to a scale to weigh himself.”  (EIME Report, Dr. Green, July 8, 2008). 

27) On July 31, 2008, Employer controverted all benefits based on Dr. Green’s EIME report.  (Controversion, July 31, 2008).

28) Employer paid Employee TTD from May 2, 2008 through May 14, 2008.  (Compensation Report, May 21, 2008).

29) On July 17, 2008, Myron Fribush, M.D., with ARMC treated Employee and stated:

Miguel had initial injury for this episode of his back on May 1, 2008, when the patient initially felt he had pulled his back muscles lifting kitchen and cafeteria tablets [sic] at work on May 1, 2008.  The patient does have a history of prior back injury in the past, which was documented previously; however, he had gone back to work for several weeks without event until he had to lift the table in order to do his job.  On May 2, 2008, he was seen and had muscle spasms in his back.  With any movement, he had diffuse soreness in his back.  This worsened on June 8, 2008, when he had increased pain in his back, complained of difficulty moving and was given medication for pain at that time.  Later in the day, his pain worsened.  He had difficulty with increased pain and weakness in his legs and was Medevac’d down to Harborview Medical Center in the early morning hours of June 8, 2008.  

Dr. Fribush assessed status post T11-T12 cord compression secondary to herniated nucleus pulposes at T12-L1 interspace with secondary spinal cord myelopathy and secondary neurologic deficits including neurogenic bowel and bladder, parathesia and hypoesthesia and radiculopathy remaining and persisting of the left leg and weakness of bilateral lower extremities.  (Chart Note, Dr. Fribush, July 17, 2008).

30) On July 29, 2008, EIME physician Dr. Green, in response to Employer’s request for clarification of his report, opined Employee symptomatic exacerbation of May 1, 2008, had improved significantly but had not returned to baseline prior to the June 7, 2008, injury.  Dr. Green further opined Employee’s May 1, 2008, work injury was not the substantial cause contributing to Employee’s permanent aggravation and myelopathic symptoms of June 7, 2008; the underlying substantial cause was Employee’s pre-existing combination of anatomic variations (including short pedicles) and pre-existing degenerative disc disease with severe focal central canal stenosis at the T12-L1 level, which was not caused by the May 1, 2008, work injury.  (Letter from Dr. Green to Colby Smith, July 29, 2008).

31) On August 13, 2008, Dr. Fribush wrote a letter to the United States Department of Labor and Workforce Development Social Security Disability office regarding Employee’s condition and opined Employee is permanently disabled, with bilateral neuropathy with a partial paraplegia at the T12-L1 level.  Dr. Fribush opined due to Employee’s neurologic loss, he had no hope for permanent employment in the future.  (Letter from Dr. Fribush to United States Department of Labor and Workforce Development, August 13, 2008).

32) A few months after his June 2008 surgery, Employee was found eligible for Social Security disability benefits and began receiving Social Security disability checks.  (Marin).

33) On August 31, 2009, Dr. Fribush treated Employee for chronic pain and diagnosed status post T12-L1 cord compression with myelomalacia and secondary paresthesia in the lumbar nerve roots distal to that injury.  Dr. Fribush stated Employee’s chronic pain and decompression surgery followed an injury at work where Employee had been lifting tables and had sudden worsening of his pain following that work.  Dr. Fribush also stated, “The patient wishes to reopen his comp claim so that his medical bills can be covered and he would not have ongoing debt.”  (Chart Note, Dr. Fribush, August 31, 2009).

34) On November 10, 2009, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim requesting PTD and PPI benefits.  (Workers’ Compensation Claim, November 10, 2009).
35) On March 8, 2010, Dr. Fribush provided a historical account of Employee’s work injury stating:

Mr. Marin had a herniated disc in his spine after lifting lunchroom tables in the Klawock Cafeteria while working as a part time custodian. . . .  Pt had symptoms persistently since his injury at work on 5/2/08, which then worsened, requiring . . . emergency surgery. . . .  

(To Whom It May Concern Letter, Dr. Fribush, March 8, 2010).

36) On May 12, 2010, Scot Hines, M.D. saw Employee for a neurological evaluation and diagnosed: (1) cauda equine syndrome, post surgical, with residual neuropathic pain, (2) impotence secondary to #1, (3) bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, and (4) depression related to chronic pain syndrome.  (Chart Note, Dr. Hines, May 12, 2010).

37) On November 19, 2010, Employee was deposed and explained on June 7, 2008, he was weighing himself on a scale when his back went out.  He stated he, “put one foot on there, on the scale, and then when I had put my other foot on the scale, then that’s when, I – I fall down because my leg go out on me” and his back went out “for good.”  (Marin Deposition 53:3-54: 12, November 19, 2010).

38) On August 10, 2011, Employee saw neurosurgeon John Cleary, M.D., for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  Dr. Cleary diagnosed: (1) development of cauda equina syndrome, June 7, 2008, (2) T12-L1 severe and considerably worsened disc extrusion with prominent compression and mass effect on the distal spinal cord at and just above the conus medullaris, (3) status postoperative left hemilaminectomy, T12-L2, June 9, 2008, with excision of large “partially calcified and adhered to anterior dura” disc herniation, and (4) excellent results from surgical decompression with progressive neurological improvement with residuals.  (SIME Report at 40-41, Dr. Cleary, August 10, 2011).  Dr. Cleary opined the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment was his non-work related compression of the distal spinal cord and conus medullaris secondary to large chronic disc herniation.  Specifically, he opined simple activities of daily living such as bending, twisting, or straining at stool, would be sufficient for the large disc herniation to compress the distal spinal cord and conus medullaris and result in the cauda equina syndrome with which Employee presented on June 7, 2008.  (SIME Report at 44).  Dr. Cleary opined the substantial cause of Employee’s cauda equina syndrome was his pre-existing large disc herniation at T12-L1 and specifically Employee’s activities of daily living would be sufficient to cause increase in pressure on the spinal cord and conus medullaris and result in a spinal cord injury with cauda equina syndrome.  (SIME Report at 46).
39) On November 3, 2011, Employee amended his claim to include a request for medical costs.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, November 3, 2011).

40) On February 20, 2012, Dr. Cleary was deposed and explained how Employee’s diagnosis is relatively rare.  He explained a disk herniation can have no neurological consequence and can just be associated with back pain.  However, Employee had conus compression and cauda equina, so all the structures were wiped out by the pressure of the spinal cord.  (Cleary Deposition 9:21-10:15, February 20, 2012).  Dr. Cleary stated Employee’s April 12, 2007 MRI showed a herniation compressing Employee’s spinal cord, which Dr. Cleary would have considered a surgical emergency at that time.  (Cleary Deposition 13:13-15:21).  Dr. Cleary opined Employee’s conus and cauda equina syndrome caused his need for surgery in June 2008.  He further opined lifting tables was not the substantial cause of Employee’s conus or cauda equina syndrome.  He explained any activity of daily living, such as coughing, was sufficient to cause a problem because Employee already had a large disk extrusion, which was already compressing his spinal cord.  (Cleary Deposition 17:17-18:7).  Dr. Cleary opined Employee’s symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment on June 7, 2008, and following, was due to the natural progression of Employee’s large disc herniation.  With regard to Employee’s June 7, 2008, event of stepping on a scale, Dr. Cleary opined, “I don’t think that it had anything to do with anything” and was just another incident “in his life that was not the substantial cause.”  (Cleary Deposition 33:2-20).

41) Dr. Cleary and Dr. Green are credible.  (Experience, judgment, observations).

42) Employee is a very poor historian.  (Id.).
43) Employee’s May 1, 2008, work injury temporarily aggravated Employee’s pre-existing disc herniation condition but this aggravation was not the substantial cause of Employee’s past and ongoing disability and need for medical treatment.  The non-work related natural progression of Employee’s pre-existing disc herniation is the substantial cause of Employee’s past and ongoing disability and need for medical treatment.  (Record).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010. Coverage. (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment.  When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

A finding reasonable persons would find employment was or was not a cause of the Employee’s disability and impose or deny liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  Id. at 534.  A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought.  See, e.g., Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Bd., 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966); Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 317 (Alaska 1981).  The court stated in Burgess the causation question before the board in aggravation cases was whether employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with an employee’s preexisting condition so as to be a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.  Id.  Burgess addressed the causation standard applied in workers’ compensation cases prior to the 2005 amendments to the Act, which imposed liability whenever employment was “a substantial factor” in an employee’s disability, death or need for medical treatment.  City of Seward v. Hansen, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 146 at 10 (Jan. 21, 2011).  A work-related injury may result in temporary disability, and treatment to restore an employee to pre-injury condition, without necessarily being the substantial cause in bringing about the need for all future medical treatment of the underlying condition.  O’Hara v. Carr-Gottstein Foods Safeway Inc., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 093 at 16 (December 4, 2008).
AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

An injured worker is entitled to a prospective determination of whether the injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions. (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . .

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.  Id. (emphasis omitted).  The presumption application involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or her injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  For injuries occurring after the 2005 amendments to the Act, if the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome at the second stage when the employer presents substantial evidence, which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 7 (March 25, 2011).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility of the parties and witnesses is not examined at the second stage.  See, e.g., Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-870 (Alaska 1985).  
If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, in the third step the presumption of compensability drops out, the employee must prove her case by a preponderance of the evidence, and must prove in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 8 (March 25, 2011).  This means the employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the fact finders the facts being asserted are probably true.  See Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  In the third step, the evidence is weighed, inferences are drawn from the evidence, and credibility is considered.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).  The board has the sole discretion to determine the weight of the medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 087 at 11 (Aug. 25, 2008).

AS 23.30.180. Permanent total disability.  In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability. . . .

AS 23.30.190. Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  (a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person. The percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under 

(b) of this section. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041, but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations.

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, except that an impairment rating may not be rounded to the next five percent. The board shall adopt a supplementary recognized schedule for injuries that cannot be rated by use of the American Medical Association Guides.

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury. If the combination of a prior impairment rating and a rating under (a) of this section would result in the employee being considered permanently totally disabled, the prior rating does not negate a finding of permanent total disability.

ANALYSIS

1)  Is Employee entitled to past and continuing medical treatment for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms?

It is undisputed Employee had significant symptomatic medical conditions which preexisted his work with Employer, including a pre-existing, large disc herniation at T12-L1 compressing Employee’s spinal cord.  A preexisting disease does not disqualify a claim if employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought.  See Thornton, 411 P.2d at 210; Burgess, 623 P.2d at 317.  Burgess addressed the causation standard applied in workers’ compensation cases prior to the 2005 amendments to the Act, which imposed liability whenever employment was “a substantial factor” in an employee’s disability, death or need for medical treatment.  Hansen at 10.  However, in 2005, the legal definition of causation changed to narrow the Act’s scope of coverage.  For injuries occurring on or after November 7, 2005, the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or need for medical treatment must be identified and evaluated.  Benefits may be awarded if employment is, in relation to all other causes, “the substantial cause” of the disability, death or need for medical treatment.  Id. at 11-14.  When causes are compared, only one can be “the substantial cause.”  Id.  

Applying the post-2005 causation standard as set forth in Hansen to the persuasive reasoning of Burgess, the causation question in this case becomes whether Employee’s employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with his preexisting condition and is the substantial cause in bringing about his need for medical treatment for his back and lower extremities.

A) Did Employee’s employment aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting back and lower extremity conditions?

The presumption of compensability applies to this factual dispute.  Employee attached the presumption of compensability to his claim his employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with his preexisting condition, based on Dr. Fribush’s opinion Employee’s chronic pain and decompression surgery followed a May 1, 2008 work injury, where Employee had been lifting tables and had sudden worsening of his pain following that work.   This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim.  Employer rebuts the presumption with Drs. Green and Cleary’s reports.  They both opine Employee’s preexisting conditions played a greater role in causing Employee’s increased symptoms and subsequent disability and need for medical treatment.  Drs. Green and Cleary’s reports standing alone are substantial evidence, which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in worsening Employee’s back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms.  Their reports also provide an alternative explanation for Employee’s symptoms.

Dr. Green opined Employee had a temporary, symptomatic exacerbation of his pre-existing conditions on May 1, 2008.  Dr. Cleary opined any activity of daily living, such as coughing, was sufficient to aggravate Employee’s pre-existing conditions.  Consequently, Employee’s work activity on May 1, 2008 was sufficient to aggravate, accelerate or combine with his preexisting condition and increase his symptoms, at least temporarily. Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence employment aggravated, accelerated and combined with his preexisting back and lower extremity conditions and increased his symptoms.  

B) Was Employee’s work-related aggravation, acceleration and combination the substantial cause, in relation to other causes, of his need for medical treatment for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms?

The presumption of compensability also applies to this factual dispute.  Employee attached the presumption of compensability based on Dr. Fribush’s opinion Employee’s chronic pain and decompression surgery followed a May 1, 2008 work injury, where Employee had been lifting tables and had sudden worsening of his pain.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability for Employee’s medical treatment claim for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms.

To rebut the presumption, Employer relies on the opinions of Dr. Green and Dr. Cleary.  They both opine Employee’s preexisting conditions played a greater role in causing Employee’s increased symptoms and subsequent disability and need for medical treatment.  Dr. Cleary opined the substantial cause of Employee’s past and ongoing need for medical treatment was his non-work related natural progression of Employee’s large disc herniation.  Dr. Green opined Employee’s acute herniation of disc material at T12-L1 causing compression of the adjacent cord, arising from Employee’s degenerative disc disease, was the substantial cause of Employee’s complaints, symptoms and need for medical treatment.  He further opined the substantial cause of Employee’s need for surgical decompression was because of Employee’s degenerative disc disease and pre-existing lumbar stenosis.  Dr. Green stated Employee had permanently aggravated his pre-existing back condition, but opined such aggravation was not related to Employee’s May 1, 2008, work injury.  Drs. Green and Cleary’s reports standing alone are substantial evidence, which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in worsening Employee’s back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms.  Their reports also provide an alternative explanation for Employee’s symptoms.  Employer rebuts the presumption Employee’s employment injury is the substantial cause of his need for medical treatment for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms.

The burden of production now shifts to Employee.  Employee does not meet his burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence his employment injury was the substantial cause of his need for past and continuing medical care for his back and lower extremities.  Although Employee’s work duties aggravated his pre-existing back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms to require some past medical treatment, Employee had many similar episodes of waxing and waning symptoms prior to, and including the morning of, May 1, 2008.  A work-related injury may result in temporary disability, and treatment to restore an employee to pre-injury condition, without necessarily being the substantial cause in bringing about the need for all future medical treatment of the underlying condition.  O’Hara at 16.  Here, an April 2007 MRI showed a herniation was compressing Employee’s spinal cord, which Dr. Cleary would have considered a surgical emergency at that time.  On the morning of May 1, 2008, Employee sought treatment for back and lower extremity pain.  Later that day, Employee went to work and injured himself lifting lunchroom tables.  Employee was restricted from working until May 14, 2008, where he was released to work with the restriction of lifting no more than 10 pounds and Employee did return to full time work with Employer.  

Subsequently, on June 7, 2008, Employee experienced a drastic increase in his conditions and symptoms when he stepped up onto a four-inch tall scale to weigh himself and felt pain shooting down his legs and numbness and tingling in his feet.  Employee reported his legs felt “weird” and “different” and his pain was intolerable.  He was unable to ambulate and so was brought to ARMC and ultimately medevaced to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle, Washington for an emergency discectomy.
Dr. Fribush based his opinion of work-relatedness on Employee’s history of events leading to the May 1, 2008, work injury.  However, Employee is a very poor historian.  Dr. Fribush’s historical account of Employee’s injury provides:

Mr. Marin had a herniated disc in his spine after lifting lunchroom tables in the Klawock Cafeteria while working as a part time custodian. . . .  Pt had symptoms persistently since his injury at work on 5/2/08, which then worsened, requiring . . . emergency surgery. . . . 

However, the medical records show Employee had a large disc herniation which pre-existed his May 1, 2008, injury, Employee had been treated the morning of May 1, 2008 for back and lower extremity pain and then went to work later that afternoon, where he strained his back lifting cafeteria tables, Employee’s condition improved after May 1, 2008, Employee returned to work on May 14, 2008, and Employee suffered a drastic increase in symptoms following a June 7, 2008, event of stepping up onto a four-inch high scale while not at work.  Dr. Fribush’s opinion is based on an inaccurate history of events leading to Employee’s disability and need for medical care.  Dr. Fribush’s opinion is consequently given less weight.

In contrast, neurologist Dr. Green recognized Employee had a well-established, pre-existing herniated nucleus pulposes with severe focal stenosis and incipient cord compression at T12-L1 prior to his employment with Employer.  He credibly opined Employee suffered a symptomatic exacerbation of pre-existing lumbar symptoms in association with lifting a cafeteria table on May 1, 2008.  Dr. Green stated Employee had many similar episodes of waxing and waning symptoms but did not develop symptoms of overt myelopathy until June 7, 2008, when he stepped up onto a scale to weigh himself at home.  After the May 1, 2008 injury, Employee improved to the point where he could return to work and only subsequently on June 7, 2008, did Employee develop recurrent symptoms as well as new symptoms indicating cord compression.  He therefore opined Employee’s May 1, 2008 work injury was not the substantial cause contributing to Employee’s permanent aggravation and myelopathic symptoms of June 7, 2008; the underlying substantial cause was Employee’s pre-existing combination of anatomic variations and pre-existing degenerative disc disease with severe focal central canal stenosis at the T12-L1 level.  

Dr. Cleary, who credibly opined the substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment was his non-work related compression of the distal spinal cord and conus medullaris secondary to large chronic disc herniation, supports this opinion.  Dr. Cleary explained simple activities of daily living such as coughing, bending, twisting, or straining at stool, would be sufficient for the large disc herniation to compress the distal spinal cord and conus medullaris and result in the cauda equina syndrome with which Employee presented on June 7, 2008.  Dr. Cleary opined Employee’s symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment on June 7, 2008, and following, was due to the natural progression of Employee’s large disc herniation.  Dr. Cleary and Dr. Green offer a more thorough analysis and explanation for the substantial cause of Employee’s back and lower extremity symptoms than Dr. Fribush, and are based on a more accurate injury history.  Consequently, Dr. Cleary and Dr. Green’s reports are given greater weight.
A review of the entire record evidences Employee’s work activity of lifting a table on the afternoon of May 1, 2008, temporarily aggravated Employee’s pre-existing condition but Employee improved to the point where he could return to work on May 14, 2008.  Comparing the relative contribution of the work injury, Employee’s May 1, 2008, work-related aggravation is not the substantial cause of his disability or need for medical treatment after May 14, 2008.  The substantial cause of Employee’s disability and need for medical treatment from May 15, 2008, forward is the natural progression of Employee’s pre-existing conditions.  Accordingly, Employee’s claim for medical benefits for treatment of his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms will be denied.

2)  Is Employee entitled to PTD benefits?

All parties agree Employee is permanently and totally disabled.  However, the parties disagree whether Employee’s May 1, 2008, work injury is the substantial cause of this disability.  To prove his entitlement to PTD benefits, Employee must show by a preponderance of the evidence his May 1, 2008, work injury is the substantial cause of his permanent and total disability.  This issue also presents a factual dispute.  Employee attached the presumption of compensability through Dr. Fribush’s opinion Employee is permanently disabled, with bilateral neuropathy with a partial paraplegia at the T12-L1 level.  Dr. Fribush opined due to Employee’s neurologic loss, he had no hope for permanent employment in the future.  He also opined “this episode of his back” began on May 1, 2008, when Employee “initially felt he had pulled his back muscles lifting kitchen and cafeteria tablets [sic] at work on May 1, 2008.”  

Employer overcame this presumption through Dr. Green and Dr. Cleary’s opinions the substantial cause of Employee’s disability was his non-work related natural progression of Employee’s large disc herniation.  Dr. Green opined Employee’s acute herniation of disc material at T12-L1 causing compression of the adjacent cord, arising from Employee’s degenerative disc disease, was the substantial cause of Employee’s disability.  Dr. Green stated Employee had permanently aggravated his pre-existing back condition, but opined such aggravation was not related to Employee’s May 1, 2008, work injury.  Dr. Cleary opined the substantial cause of Employee’s disability was his non-work related compression of the distal spinal cord and conus medullaris secondary to Employee’s large chronic disc herniation.  Drs. Green and Cleary’s reports standing alone are substantial evidence, which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in Employee’s disability.  Their reports also provide an alternative explanation for Employee’s disability.  Employer rebuts the presumption Employee’s employment injury is the substantial cause of his permanent total disability.

Employee has not proven his May 1, 2008, work injury is compensable and the totality of the evidence demonstrates the May 1, 2008, work injury is not the substantial cause of his permanent total disability.  Employee has a long history of back and lower extremity complaints and symptoms, which predate his May 1, 2008, work injury.  Employee had been treated the morning of May 1, 2008 for a “re-strain” of his back and for lower extremity pain and then went to work later that afternoon, where he injured himself to a greater extent lifting cafeteria tables.  Employee’s condition improved after May 1, 2008, and Employee returned to work on May 14, 2008.  It was not until almost four weeks later, on June 7, 2008, Employee stepped up onto a four-inch tall scale to weigh himself and experienced a drastic increase in his conditions and symptoms, including pain shooting down his legs and numbness and tingling in his feet.  Employee reported his legs felt “weird” and “different.” Employee was unable to ambulate and his pain was intolerable, so was brought to ARMC and ultimately medevaced to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle, Washington for an emergency discectomy.  

As discussed supra in section one, the totality of the evidence demonstrates Employee’s temporary aggravation of May 1, 2008, resulted in a short period of disability ending May 14, 2008, when Employee returned to work.  Employee’s disability from May 15, 2008 forward is the natural progression of Employee’s well-established pre-existing conditions.  Consequently, Employee is not entitled to PTD benefits.
3)  Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits?

The presumption of compensability applies to this factual dispute.  Employee has failed to establish the presumption of compensability for PPI benefits for his back and lower extremity symptoms.  Employee has not obtained any PPI rating for any work-related back and lower extremity conditions and a PPI rating is necessary for obtaining an award of PPI benefits.

Even if Employee had attached the presumption of compensability, Employer rebutted the presumption with the opinions of Drs. Green and Cleary.  They opined no work-related permanent impairment was attributable to Employee’s low back and lower extremity conditions.

Employee has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence he suffered work-related PPI attributable to his low back and lower extremity conditions.  Employee has not obtained a PPI rating for these conditions.  Viewing the evidence as a whole, Employee failed to meet his burden on this issue.  His PPI claim for these conditions will be denied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1)  Employee is not entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms.

2)  Employee is not entitled to PTD benefits.

3)  Employee is not entitled to PPI benefits.

ORDER

1)  Employee’s claim for past and ongoing medical treatment for his back and lower extremity conditions and symptoms is denied.

2)  Employee’s claim for PTD benefits is denied.

3)  Employee’s claim for PPI benefits is denied.

Dated in Juneau, Alaska this 14th day of May, 2012.
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Bradley S. Austin, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision. It becomes effective when filed in the office of the board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted. Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers' Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the board and all other parties to the proceedings before the board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23, 30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken. A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later. The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken. 
AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050. The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of MIGUEL N. MARIN employee / applicant; v. KLAWOCK CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT, employer; ALASKA PUBLIC ENTITY INSURANCE, insurer / defendants; Case No. 200806131; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, on May  14, 2012.





Sue Reishus-O’Brien, Workers’ Compensation Officer
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